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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 2:18CV-14232ROSENBERG/MAYNARD
CHURCH GIRLS, LLC,
Plaintiff,
V.
NATASHA SHAE RODGERS, POPE HARVEY,
JAMIE LEE, KEITH PETERS, and STEVENSON
SULLIVAN,

Defendants.
/

ORDER GRANTING IN PART
AND DENYING IN PART COUNTER-DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO DISMISS AND MOTION TO STRIKE [DE 31]

THIS CAUSE is before the Courbn Countebefendant Church Girls’ Motion to
Dismiss Count | of the Counterclaiamd StrikeCounterPlaintiff's Request for Attorney’s Fees,
DE 31.CounterPlaintiffs, Natasha Shae Rodgers and Sean P. Harvey, filed a Response, DE 41.
The Motion is now ripe without a reply. For the reasons set forth below, Cddefeardant’s
Motion is granted in part and denied in part.

l. BACKGROUND

This trademark infringement action concerns two bands, located in the northeast and the
southeast United States, performing and producing music under the same- ri@imerch
Girls.” Plaintiff, Church Girls LLC, is a limited liability company, which was formed and is
operating nder Pennsylvania law. DE 1, {1 7. The LLC is used to streamline the business aspects
of a band by the same name, consisting of four individuals and formed in Juljj@0@March
2017, Church Girls LLC applied for a federal trademark of the name “Church’@ingh was

granted on September 17, 200.11-12.
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Defendants, Natasha Shae Rodgers, Pope Harvey, Jamie Lee, Keith Peters, and
Stevenson Sullivanare also members of a bapdrforming under the band name of Church
Girls. Id. § 19. Defendants perform in the State of Florida and claim to have used the band name
“Church Girl$ prior to Plaintiff Church Girls LLC’s use of the name, specifically, begigrm
May 2014. DE 18, 13 § 2. To make it clear which band the Courefesring to, the
Philadelphiabased badhis referred to a®®A-Church Girls (PACG)and the Floriddasedband
is referred to a&L-Church Girls (FLCG).

PACGfiled this lawsuit on June 19, 201BE 1, alleging federal trademark infringement
in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1051 (“Count I”), false advertising and false designation ah origi
under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) (“Count II"), dilution by tarnishment under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)
(“Count III"), common law trademark infringement (“Count 1V”), and viotetiof the Florida
Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“Count V”).

FLCG filed its Answer, Affirmative Defenses, drCounterclaira on July 20, 2018DE
18. There,FLCG denied the allegations of the Complaint, DE 1; asserted thirteen grounds of
affirmative defenses; and asserted two countercldin$:LCG seels cancellation oPACGs
registered trademark (“Count I”) and a declaration of non-infringemeuicClI”). Id.

PACG responded by moving to dismiB&CG's Count | for trademark cancellation and
to strikeFLCG's request for attorney’s fees. DE 31.

Il. PACG'SMOTION TO DISMISS COUNT |, TRADEMARK CAN CELLATION

A. Standard of Review

When deciding a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), this

Court must accept all factual allegations in a complaint as true and take them imtimeolsy



favorable to the plaintiff; however, a plaintiff is stlbligated to providgroundsfor his or her
entilement to reliefwhich requires more than labels, conclusions and a formulaic recitation of
the elements of a cause of actiBell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb)yp50 U.S. 544, 56563 (2007)
Unwarranted deductions of fact in a complaint cannot be admitted as true for theepuwpos
testing the sufficiency of the allegatiorAdana v. Del Monte Fresh Produce, N.A., Jn€16
F.3d 1242, 1248 (11th Cir. 2005). The facts as pled must state a claim for relief that isglausibl
on the face of the pleadjnAshcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678—69 (2009).

Fraud claimsare held to a higher standard, andst be alleged “with particularity.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 9(b). However, intent and “other conditions of a person’s mind may be alleged
generally.”ld. Rule 9(b)“serves an important purpose in fraud actions by alerting defendants to
the precise misconduct with which they are charged and protecting defeagdaimst spurious
charges of immoral and fraudulent behavi@tboks v. Blue Cross and Blue Shield~t., Inc.,
116 F.3d 1364, 13471 (11th Cir.1997) (quotindpurham v. BusMgmt. Assocs.847 F.2d
1505, 1511 (11th Cir.1988)) (internal quotation marks omitted). The application of Rulat 9(b)
the motion to dismiss stag&éowever, “must not abrogate the concept of notice pleading.”
Durham v. BusMgmt. Assocs.847 F.2d 1505, 1511 (11th Cit988) (quotingSeville Indus.
Mach. Corp. v. Southmost Mach. Corp42 F.2d 786, 791 (3d Cir.1984)). Rule 9(b) is satisfied
if the complaint orcounter claim articulate

(1) precisely what statements were made in what dentsyor oral representations or

what omissions were made, and (2) the time and place of each such statement and the

person responsible for makifigf , and (3) the content of such statements andérener

in which they misled the plaintiff, and (4) what the defendants obtaim@dconsequence

of the fraud.

Brooks,116 F.3dat 1371 (internal quotation omitted).



B. Discussion

In its Counterclaim, DE 18, FLCG@Glaims thatPACGs registered trademark should be
cancelledbecause the trademark was obtained through false statements in violation of 15 U.S.C.
8 1051(a)(3)(D),pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1064. In its Motion to Dismiss and Strike, DE 31,
Movant PACG argues that this clairs not adequately pled, because the counterclaim does not
sufficiently plead the subjective intent necessary to establish a claim of false statements to the
Patent and Trademark OfficBTO): “[FLCG] have not pled that [PACG] possessed the requisite
subjecive intent to defraud the Trademark Office.” DE 31, 7.

Applicants for the use of a trademark must verify and swear that “to theobést
verifier's knowledge and belief, no other person has the right to use such mark in cemnierc
15 U.S.C. 8§ 1051A litigant may seek cancellation tdfe mark if it was obtained through fraud
on the PTO. 15 U.S.C. 88 1064(3), 11%6¢ alsdSovereign Military Hospitaller v. Fla. Priory
of Knights Hospitallers702 F.3d 1279 (11th Cir. 201Z2)he elements of fraud itrademark
registration are as follows: (1) “[tlhe challenged statement Wwals@representation regarding a
material fact. (2) The person making the representakinewthat the representation was false
(‘scienter’). (3) An intent to deceivethe USPTO. 4) Reasonablereliance on the
misrepresentation. (5Damage proximately resulting from such reliance.” 6 McCarthy on
Trademarks and Unfair Competition § 36:6An applicant commits fraud when hienowingly
makes false, material representations of faatannection with an application for a retgised
mark.” Sovereign Military Hospitalle 702 F.3d at 1289 (quotifgngel Flight of Ga., Inc. v.
Angel Flight Am Inc., 522 F.3d 1200, 1209 (11th C2008)).To prove fraud, the party seeking

cancellation must also demonstrate that the trademyapkicaxt had “a purpose or intent to



deceive the PTO in the application for the maitk. (citing In re Bose Corp.580 F.3d 1240,
12431245 (Fed.Cir2009); Angel Flight 522 F.3d at 12161 (affirming cancellation on the
basis of the applicant's purposeful failure to disclose a superior user of thg. mhaekparty
seeking cancellation of the mark must demonstrate that the registrant lsadjdativeintentto
defraud the PTO: “[T]here ia material legal distinction between a ‘false’ represemtadiad a
‘fraudulent’ one, the latter involving an intent to deceive, whereas the formebenagcasioned
by a misunderstanding, an inadvertence, a mere negligent omission, or the diteer words,
deception must be Wl to constitute fraud.'In re Bose Corp.580 F.3d 1240, 1243 (Fed. Cir.
2009) (internal quotations and citations omittetjowever, he oath required as part of the
trademark applicationdoes not require an applicant to disclose all other persons who may be
using the mark; it only requires applicant to disclose those persons who the applicant believes
possesshelegal rightto use the mark. Pandora Jewelers 1995, Inc. v. Pandora Jewelry, LLC
No 0961490CIV, 2011 WL 2174012 (S.D. Fla. June 2, 2011) (citidgyrzburger Hofbrau
Aktiengesds$chaft v. Schoenling Brewing C831 F.Supp. 497, 505 (S.Dhio 1971), aff'd I5
U.S.P.Q. 391 (6th Cirl972);Money Store v. Harriscorp Finance, In689 F.2d 666, 671 (7th
Cir.1982) (holding that applicant has no duty to investigate and disclose RI@ell other
possible users of the same or similar maf&Mphasis in original)

Here, FLCG has alleged, and the Court must accept as true, the fact that at least one
member of PACG had knowledge of FLCG'’s existencethant use of the name “Churdairls”
as a bandeforePACG appliedo register “Church Girls” as theaxclusive markSeeDE 18
8. FLCG alleges that prior to November 2014, a member of PACG had communicated with

members of FLCG over a social media platform regarding their shared band Idafer.



Following that communication, the same member of PACG messaged FLCG twesaliduld
get this sorted out” in reference to the two bands’ use of the sameldaMevertheless, PACG
applied for an exclusive use trademark, as opposedaographically restricted registratiddee

id. 117~19.Based on PACG'’s knowledge of FLCG’s existence, FLCG alleges that PAdcie
“willful false statements” tadhe PTOby “intentionally misrepresent[ing] to the USPTO that to
the best of [PACG’s] ‘knowledge and belief, no other person has the right to use such laark.
19.

The Court finds that athis stage of litigationthis knowledge, and FLCG'’s allegation that
the misrepresentation was “willful dre sufficient for the counterclaim to survive a motion to
dismiss.SeeBrooks,116 F.3dat 1371.To satisfy the elements of fraud on the PTO, FLCG has
alleged that PACG made a false representation of a materiabé&metusehere was another user
of the mark in the music industry, DE 18 { 7 of fheunterclain), that PACG knew the
representation was false (because of PACG’s online communications with, KLY Ghat the
PTO reasonably relied on the misrepresentation (because the mark was grantidd), BbGG
has suffered damages as a resultdbse FLCG also performs under the band name “Church
Girls,” id. 1 15. As to the “intent to deceive” argument, FLCG has alleged this gener#iigt
the misrepresentation was “willftilid. I 16, and an “intentional[] misrepresentatiad,”| 9.

To satsfy the general pleading standard for fraBHCG has articulated exactly what
omission was made (PACG’s knowledge of FLCG’s use of the band name), the timeaand pla
of that omission (in the trademark application), the content of the statememtq(thidter person
has the right to use the mark), how the statement dniek2 PTO (the PTO issued the mark

without knowledge of FLCG), and what PACG obtained as a result (the redistademark).



See idPACG isallegedlyon notice about what fraud it commdte- FLCG makes clear in its
counterclaim that the fraud was contained in the trademark application by failuligctose
PACG’s knowledge of FLCGSeeDE 18, 11 1618 of the Counterclainkinally, PACG’s state
of mind has been alleged “generally” as regdiby Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9.

The Court notes thdlovant PACG cites various cases holding that more than mere
knowledge of anothegntity’s use of the marls required to prove fraud on the PTO. However,
the cases cited all analyze the party’s claim for cancellation at a more edvstage of
litigation. See e.g.Drew Estate Holding Co., LLC v. Fantadiastribution, Inc.,No. 11:21900-
Clv, 2012 WL 12866790 (S.D. Fla. July 2, 2012) (order on summary judgment motion);
Pandora Jewelers 1995, Inc. v. Pandora Jewelry, L NG 0961490CIV, 2011 WL 2174012
(S.D. Fla. June 2, 2011) (order on summary judgment motsmvereign Military Hospitaller v.
Fla. Priory of Knights Hospitallers702 F.3d 1279 (11th Cir. 2012)dpellatereview ofbench
trial). The exception idlovoshen v. Bridgewater Assocs.,.. .47 F. Supp. 3d. 1367 (S.D. Fla.
2012) (Marra, J.jorder on motion to dismissin that case, the court gradta motion to dismiss
because thelaim for cancellation based on fraud was not swffity alleged.ld. at 1374.
However, that case factuallydistinguishable. Therehé PTO was aware of the use of thark
by another entity besides the applicaltk The party seeking cancellatioalleged that the
applicant’s representation that théivo uses of the markvere distinct was misleading, but
provided no basis fowhythe two uses wemisleadingld. This is different from the case at bar,
where FLCG has put forth a specific fact which makes it plausible thaGP&illfully mislead
the PTO.

For all of the reasons stated above, PACG’s Motion to Dismiss Count | of the



Counterclaim, DE 31, is denied.

1. PACG’'S MOTION TO STRIKE REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES

In both counts of FLCG’s counterclaims (Count I, Trademark Cancellation and Count |

Declaration of Nofinfringement), FLCG seeks attorney’s fees. DE 18,207 PACG’s Motion
to Dismiss and Strike, DBL, argues that these claims for attorney’s fees are not adequately pled
and should be stricken pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure R2dpondenFLCG
concedes that the Motion to Strike should be granted as to its claim for tradentaikatan in
Count I. DE 41 1 29 (“[T]he Motion to Strike should . . . be granted . . . as to the request for
attorney’s fees in Count 1.”). Accordingly, the Court proceeds to analyze ttieriMto Strike
only as it pertains to FLCG'’s request for attorney’s fees based omiits fdr a declaratiomf
non-nfringement (Count I).

A. Standard of Review

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(f) permits the Court to strike a pleading, irgladin
counterclaimif it is “insufficient . . . redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandaloihile
granting a motion to strikes “disfavored” by courts, “[f}e purpose of aotionto strikeis to
clean up the pleadings, remove irrelevant or otherwise confusing matarals avoid
unnecessary forays into immaterial matteBidke v. Batmasigr818 F.R.D. 698, 700 (S.D. Fla.
2017) (Marra, J.).

B. Discussion

Section 111°0f Title 150f the U.S. Codgermits fee shifting for violations “of any right

of the registrant of a mark registered in the Patert TrademarlOffice.” This feeshifting

provision specifies that the violations must be of “section 1125(a) or (d) of [Title 1&jwibiful



violation under section 1125(c) of [Title 15].” Section 1125(a) relates to civil achiomsaims

for likelihood of confusion or false designation of origin; Section 1125(d) relates t@aatioihs

on claims related to cyberpiracy; and Section 1125(c) relates to claiahitutayn or tarnishment
of a mark. In addition, Section 1117 allows fee shifting in “exceptional cases.”

Movant PACG argues in its Motion to Strike that FLCG’s claim faoatey's feesn
Count Il pursuant téhe Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 22fifes not fall into one of
the feeshifting categories of 15 U.S.C. § 1117 outlined above. DE 310.9LCG responds
that they are entitled to attorney’s fees, because ¢kaim for a declaration on nanfringement
is “based on a declaration that infringement has not occurred” under any ofahespiecified
sections of Title 15. DE 41,  29.

The Court finds Movant PACG’s argument persuasive, in so far as tkshifeeg
provision is only applicable to certain sections of Title 15, none of which Respondent FLCG
apparently relies upon on the face of their Counterclaim. Respondent FLCGduaaaitase
law to suggest that Section 111lreéates a reverse entitlement fiarties who haveot violated
the specified sections of Title 15. And, the doctrinexgressio unis est exclusion alter{tihe
expression of one thing is exclusion of others”) counsels against judicial creatwoiditbbnal
categories of claims to be covered by thede#ting provision if not expressly include@f.
Greenber v. Nat'l Geographic Sp&33 F.3d 1244, 1278 (11th Cir. 2008).

Whenconfronted with a similar issue, another court in this district dismissed a claim for
attorney’s fees by a party seeking a declaration that it had acted lawfully:

[Respondentjvas not asserting a cause of action for a violatiofiMxyvant] under 15

U.S.C. 8§ 1125. Rather, they were seeking a determination pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §

1114(2)(D)(v) that they had not violated those provisions. The award of profits, damages

and costs of the action would have been grantdditivant] if it had filed an action

9



under 8§ 1125(a) or (d) and established {Ra&tspondenthad violated their rights to the

mark. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a), (d). 15 U.S.C. § 1114(2)(D)(v) only provides relief in the

form of a declaration that the domain name usage was not unlawful and “injunctifze relie

.. including the reactivation of the domain name or transfer of theitioname.” 15

U.S.C. §8 1114(2)(D)(v)[Respondent] is not entitled to an award of costs under either

sections 1114(2)(D)(v), 1114(2)(D)(iv), or 1125 for seeking a declaration that it was not

itself acting unlawfully.
MailPlanet.com, Inc. v. Lo Monaco Hogar, S.No. 0660823CIV, 2007 WL 9698307, at *6
(S.D. Fla. 2007)Dimitrouleas, J.) (slip copy) (emphasis added). On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit
acknowledged the district court’s finding that Respondent was not eligible for attofaey,
but did notrule on this issue, because it was not raised by the parties on &padlanet.com,
Inc. v. Lo Monaco Hogar, S,1291 F. App’'x 229, 231, n. 5 (11th Cir. 2008).

Furthermore, the Court notes tHdtCG’s response to this argument is tantamoura to
default under Local Rule 7.1(c). (“Failure to [respond] may be deemed sufficient cduse
granting the motion by default,”). FLCG has responded to the Motion to Strike in aigpdrad
just six lines. The paragraph does not directly address Movant PACG’s arguméduhat! of
FLCG’s Counterclaim, DE 18, proceeds under 28 U.S.@Q2®&l, and not under any of the
sections referenced in the {skifting provision, Section 1117. Instead, Respondent FLCG
recites that that their nanfringement is based on their neiolation of the sections under
which feeshifting is permitted in Section 1117. But, as discussed above, FLCG provides no
support in case law for their implicit assertion that Section 1117 appliesyetpualhims of non
infringement as it does waims of infringementFurthermore Respondent FLC@Gasdefaulted

on any argument that this is an “exceptional case,” because they do not respond to Movant

PACG’s argument that this mtan exceptional cas€ompare DE 31, 10with DE 41, § 29.

10



V. CONCLUSION
Thus, CounteDefendant’s Motion to Dismiss and Strike, DE 31, is granted in part and
denied in part.
It is herebyORDERED AND ADJUDGED

1. The Motion to Dismiss Count | of CountBraintiffs’ Counterclaim [DE 31,-68]
is DENIED.

2. The Motion to Strike CountePlaintiffs’ Claims for Attorney’s Fees [DE 31:-9
10] isGRANTED.

DONE and ORDERED in Chambersat West Palm BeachFlorida, this 13h day of

November, 2018.

- P
, g;g % ( jg,@ L y
Copies furnished to Counsel of Record OBIN L. ROSENBER

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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